I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

The petitioner is Skagit County, defendant in the trial court 

and respondent in the Court of Appeals. 

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 

The Court of Appeals issued its published decision on Feb. 

23, 2015, Binschus v. Dep't of Corrections, _ Wn. App. _, 345 

P.3d 818 (2015) (App. A), and denied Skagit County's timely motion 

for reconsideration on April6, 2015. (App. B) 

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Whether a county owes a tort duty to the public at 

large to medicate jail inmates while in custody to prevent an inmate 

from committing crimes after the inmate's release and completion 

of his sentence? 

2. Does a county's "take charge" duty of care owed to jail 

inmates extend to random victims of violent crimes an inmate 

commits after release from custody and completion of his sentence? 

3. Is an expert psychiatrist's opinion, that had the 

County medicated an inmate while in custody the inmate would not 

have committed criminal acts a month after his release, sufficient to 

allow a reasonable juror to find the County's failure to medicate the 

inmate was a proximate cause of the crime victims' injury? 

1 



IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Statement of Facts. 

Isaac Zamora "had a long-standing psychiatric disorder that 

began to emerge when Zamora was in his late-teens, more than a 

decade before the incident on September 2, 2008." (CP 2538) 

Zamora had begun experiencing symptoms of insomnia, paranoia, 

and anger in May 2000. In 2003, Zamora was involuntarily 

committed at North Sound Evaluation and Treatment Center, 

where he was prescribed an antipsychotic medication that is 

commonly used for treatment of schizophrenia. (Opinion~ 5) 

Zamora also had an extensive criminal history. Although 

none were for violent crimes, Zamora had been arrested 21 times 

and incarcerated 11 times in Skagit County. (Op. ~ 47) Zamora and 

his parents had many contacts with Skagit County officers by 

September 2008. (Op. ~~ 6, 48) In May 2007, for instance, 

Zamora called Skagit County deputies concerned that "someone in 

his house 'was out to get him.'" (Op. ~ 48) 

The tort claims in this case, however, arise solely from 

Zamora's arrest and incarceration from April 4 until August 2, 

2008. After being arrested on outstanding warrants on April 4, 

2008, Zamora was incarcerated pretrial in Skagit County. He was 
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seen by a mental health counselor at the Skagit County Jail on April 

10, 2008. (CP 3685) On the counselor's recommendation, the 

Jail's medical doctor prescribed Zamora Lamictal, a mood 

stabilizer. (CP 2539) A week later, and contrary to a Jail mental 

health counselor's recommendations, Zamora told a Jail counselor 

"he doesn't want any type of'mental' medications." (CP 3687) 

On May 15, 2008, Zamora was sentenced by the Skagit 

County Superior Court to six months incarceration for drug and 

misdemeanor property damage crimes. (CP 3483-3503) Zamora's 

six months of jail time were to be followed by 12 months of com

munity supervision by the State Department of Corrections. (CP 

3498-99) Although the sentencing court did not make any specific 

findings regarding Zamora's mental health (Op. 11 7), the Com

munity Supervision section of the Judgment and Sentence required 

Zamora to obtain a "mental health evaljtreatment" and "drug eval

uation comply with all treatment recommendations." (CP 3499) 

On May 29, 2008, Zamora was transferred to Okanogan 

County, which by contract provided detention services for Skagit 

County. (Op. 11 14) Zamora completed his sentence without 

incident, and was released from the Okanogan County Jail on 

August 2, 2008. (Op. 111115-23) 
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On August 5, 2008, three days after his release, Zamora was 

again arrested in Skagit County and jailed overnight on an 

outstanding misdemeanor warrant for failing to appear in court. 

(Op. ~ 24; CP 1590) Zamora was released on his own recognizance 

by court order the next day, August 6, 2008. (Op. ~ 26; CP 3563-

64) Skagit County deputies answered additional calls about 

Zamora on August 13, August 18, and September 1, 2008. (Op. ,~ 

29-30; CP 3558, 3507-08, 3561) Later in the evening on September 

1, 2008, Zamora was seen by a psychologist contracted by DSHS to 

assess his eligibility for State general public assistance. (CP 3538-

40) The DSHS psychologist testified that Zamora was not, in his 

opinion, an imminent danger to himself or others - "he wasn't 

acutely, at that point, symptomatic." (CP 3541) 

The next day, September 2, 2008, Isaac Zamora shot and 

killed six people and injured five others. (CP 2768-78) Zamora 

pled guilty to 18 charges stemming from his rampage, including 

four counts of aggravated murder. Zamora is now serving a life 

sentence without possibility of parole. (Op. ~ 32; CP 3453-3482) 

B. Procedural Background. 

Plaintiffs received settlements of almost $10 million from the 

State of Washington Department of Corrections, which was solely 

4 



responsible for supervising Zamora after his release from 

incarceration. (CP 24-62) Plaintiffs additionally asserted that the 

negligent failure of Skagit County and Okanogan County to evaluate 

and treat Zamora's mental illness while he was incarcerated from 

April 4-August 2, 2008, was the cause of Zamora's violent rampage 

on September 2, 2008. (CP 2667-73, 3867) 

In opposing the Counties' motions for summary judgment, 

plaintiffs relied heavily on the declaration of a consulting 

psychiatric expert, Dr. Csaba Hegyvary. Dr. Hegyvary never 

examined Zamora or reviewed his Western State Hospital records. 

(CP 2536-37) However, he asserted that a mental health evaluation 

in the Skagit County Jail "would have discovered Mr. Zamora's 

psychosis and . . . required administration of one or more of the 

antipsychotic medications." (CP 2540-41) 

Dr. Hegyvary also opined that Skagit County "could have 

provided long-acting treatment to Zamora that would have been 

effective long after his release:" 

Mr. Zamora may have had difficulty complying with 
an oral regimen of antipsychotic medications 
requiring daily administration, but there are long
acting, injectable medications for use is [sic] these 
situations. Haloperidol Decanoate is one such 
antipsychotic commonly used in the treatment of 
schizophrenia and acute psychotic states. The 
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medication is a long-acting injection given only once 
every four weeks. The medication is administered 
directly by the psychiatrist, only once per month, 
compliance can be documented and is virtually 
assured. The positive, therapeutic effects of the 
Haloperidol Decanoate last for longer than four 
weeks, thus, even if an injection was not given at the 
four-week mark the medication would continue to 
work to subdue or eliminate psychosis for up to six 
weeks. Another such medication is Risperdal Consta 
(risperidone), which is a depot injection administered 
once every two weeks. 

(Op. ~ 67, quoting CP 2544-45) (bracket in opinion) According to 

Dr. Hegyvary, had Skagit County identified his psychosis and placed 

him on a treatment plan that included injecting Zamora with a 

long-acting antipsychotic medication, Zamora 44Would not have 

been in a psychotic state on September 2, leading to the victims' 

tragic deaths and injuries." (Op. ~ 68) 

The trial court held on summary judgment that neither 

County owed plaintiffs a duty and that proximate cause was not 

established as a matter of law. (CP 5-20) In a published decision, 

Division One reversed, remanding a single claim to the trial court: 

plaintiffs' 4'take charge" claim under Restatement (Second) of Torts 

§§ 315 and 319, against Skagit County alone, for its alleged failure to 

perform a mental health evaluation and provide long term mental 

health treatment to Zamora during his incarceration. (Op. ~ 70) 
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V. WHY THIS COURT SHOULD GRANT REVIEW 

A. A county jail has no ''take charge" duty to the 
public to prevent an inmate from committing 
random acts of violence after the inmate's 
release upon completion of his sentence. 

The Court of Appeals erroneously held that Skagit County 

had a duty to control a jail inmate's behavior after his release from 

confinement. This Court has repeatedly held that the government's 

"take charge" duty to prevent an inmate from committing criminal 

acts terminates when the government's duty of supervision 

terminates. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts with 

established precedent, RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and unwisely creates an 

enormous new burden on financially strapped counties to provide 

mental health services for jail inmates in contravention of express 

statutory limits on a County's duty. RAP 13-4Cb)(4). 

1. A county has no duty to prevent jail inmates 
from committing crimes after supervision has 
ended. The Court of Appeals' decision is 
inconsistent with this Court's decision in 
Taggart and conflicts with Division Two's 
decisions in Hungerford and Couch. RAP 
13-4Cb)(l), (2). 

With very limited exceptions, "our common law imposes no 

duty to prevent a third person from causing physical injury to 

another." Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn.2d 441, 448,, 12, 128 P.3d 574 

(2006). The Court of Appeals expands far beyond the recognized 
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limits one such exception - that which imposes a duty to control a 

third person's conduct where the defendant "takes charge of a third 

person whom he knows or should know to be likely to cause bodily 

harm to others if not controlled". (Op. ~ 43, quoting Restatement 

(Second) ofTorts § 319) 

This Court has relied on the "take charge" duty under § 319 

to hold that the State, which has control over convicted offenders 

under community supervision, has "a duty to protect others from 

reasonably foreseeable dangers engendered by parolees' dangerous 

propensities." Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 224, 822 P.2d 243 

(1992). See also Hertog v. City of Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 279, 979 

P.2d 400 (1999) (city may be liable to probationer's crime victims 

because "[a] probation counselor is clearly in charge of monitoring 

the probationer to ensure that conditions of probation are being 

followed, and has a duty to report violations to the court."); Bishop 

v. Miche, 137 Wn.2d 518, 973 P.2d 465 (1999) (county probation 

officer had duty to control probationer under officer's supervision). 

Each of these cases imposes as a threshold requirement for 

this limited duty to prevent harm by a third party the existence of a 

"'definite, established, and continuing relationship between the 

defendant and the third party."' Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219, 
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quoting Honcoop v. State, 111 Wn.2d 182, 193, 759 P.2d 1188 

(1988) (emphasis added); see also Walker v. State, 6o Wn. App. 

624, 629, 8o6 P.2d 249 (1991), rev. granted, 118 Wn.2d 1001, cause 

dismissed, 118 Wn.2d 1014 (1992). Once the "take charge" exercise 

of control over the third party has ended, however, so too does the 

defendant's duty to protect others from the third party's intentional 

acts of violence. 

In Hungerford v. Dep't of Corrections, 135 Wn. App. 240, 

250-56, 139 P.3d 1131 (2006), rev. denied, 160 Wn.2d 1013 (2007), 

Division Two held that the Department of Corrections had no 

continuing "take charge" duty after its period of supervision 

terminated. "[T]he duty to supervise does not require DOC to 

prevent future crimes an offender might commit after his 

supervision ends .... DOC owes a duty to those who are injured 

during an offender's active supervision, not after it ends." 

Hungerford, 135 Wn. App. at 258, ~47· Accord, Couch v. Dep't of 

Corrections, 113 Wn. App. 556, 572, 54 P .3d 197 (2002) 

("Axiomatically, a legal duty must be breached while it is in effect;" 

DOC's supervision of offender's compliance with financial 

obligations following completion of active supervision insufficient 

to establish duty of control), rev. denied, 149 Wn.2d 1012 (2003). 
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The Court of Appeals relied on Skagit County's admitted 

"take charge" relationship with Zamora while he was in the Skagit 

County Jail (Op. ~ 45), but failed to recognize that the relationship 

·- and Skagit County's "take charge" duty - terminated upon 

Zamora's unconditional release from custody. No court has 

imposed tort liability on a jail or prison for an inmate's post-release 

crimes in the absence of a continuing duty of supervision. The 

Court of Appeals' published decision in this case conflicts with 

Taggart's requirement that the "take charge" relationship be a 

continuing one, and with Division Two's decisions in Couch and 

Hungerford that the government's "take charge" duty does not 

extend to prevent criminal acts occurring after its supervisory 

responsibility ends. RAP 13-4Cb)(1), (2). 

2. A county's obligation to provide health care to 
inmates does not create a duty to the public to 
prevent post-release criminal acts. The Court 
of Appeals' decision conflicts with this Court's 
decisions in Sheikh and Melville and 
contravenes statutory policy. RAP 13-4Cb)(l), (4). 

The Court of Appeals also erred in holding that the narrow 

constitutional and common law duty to provide for the health, 

safety and welfare of jail inmates imposes upon the County a broad 

duty to protect the public at large from an inmate's violent crimes 
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after his release. The Court of Appeals' published decision conflicts 

with Sheikh v. Choe, 156 Wn.2d 441, 128 P.gd 574 (2006), with 

Melville v. State, 115 Wn.2d 34, 793 P.2d 952 (1990), and with the 

statutes governing the treatment of inmates and the mentally ill. 

In Sheikh, this Court held that the State's control over 

children placed in foster care did not create a duty to protect a 

member of the public from criminal assault by a dependent child. 

Characterizing the State's "take charge" obligations as a 

"continuum," 156 Wn.2d at 451, -,r 16, the Court distinguished the 

statutory obligations of DSHS, "which exists to protect abused 

children from harm," from those of the "criminal justice agencies at 

issue in Taggart, Hertog and Bishop, which supervise and impose 

conditions on criminals because they are criminals in order to 

protect the public." Sheikh, 156 Wn.2d at 451-52, -,r 17 (emphasis in 

original).1 

As Sheikh demonstrates, the existence of a duty is a legal 

question that this Court determines based on considerations of 

1 The Sheikh Court approved the reasoning of Terrell C. v. Dep't of Soc. & 
Health Servs., 120 Wn. App. 20, 23-24, 84 P.3d 899, rev. denied, 152 
Wn.2d 1018 (2004), which held that DSHS's active supervision of two 
children for whom dependency petitions had been filed but not 
adjudicated did not create a "take charge" duty to prevent the children 
from sexually assaulting a neighbor child. 156 Wn.2d at 453, 1119. 
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"logic, common sense, justice, policy and precedent." Snyder v. 

Medical Service Corp., 145 Wn.2d 233, 243, 35 P.3d 1158 (2001). 

In deciding whether as a matter of common sense and public policy 

to impose a "take charge" duty under Restatement § 319, this Court, 

as it did in Sheikh, has consistently looked to the statutes that both 

describe the parameters of the duty of control and articulate the 

purpose of state supervision. See, e.g., Taggart, 118 Wn.2d at 219-

20 (relying on RCW 72.04A.o8o, which gave the Department of 

Corrections "the statutory authority ... to supervise parolees," 

including the authority to "regulate a parolee's movements, require 

the parolee to report .... [and to] impose special conditions such as 

refraining from using alcohol or undergoing drug rehabilitation or 

psychiatric treatment," in order to protect the public). 

The Court of Appeals thus erred in relying on Petersen v. 

State, 100 Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983), where this Court held 

that a state psychiatrist who evaluates a patient involuntarily 

detained for 14 days pursuant to statute, and who knows that the 

patient "presents a likelihood of serious harm," had a duty to 

"petition the court for a 90-day commitment . . . under RCW 

71.05.280, or to take other reasonable precautions to protect those 

who might foreseeably be endangered by [the patient's] drug-
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related mental problems." 100 Wn.2d at 424, 428-29. The duty in 

Petersen was based on the involuntary treatment act, which is 

intended to protect public safety. See RCW 71.05.010(7). "Because 

the patient in Petersen was under the care, custody and control of 

the hospital, the doctor had statutory authority to further confine 

him." McKenna v. Edwards, 65 Wn. App. 905, 914-15, 830 P.2d 

385, rev. denied, 120 Wn.2d 1003 (1992) (emphasis added). 

In this case, however, the relevant statutes provide no sup

port, and in fact counsel against, the imposition of the broad duty 

imposed by the Court of Appeals. Counties have a statutory 

obligation to adopt standards "necessary to meet federal and state 

constitutional requirements relating to health, safety, and welfare of 

inmates and staff .... " RCW 70-48.071. See also RCW 70.48.130 

(legislative intent that jail inmates "receive appropriate and cost

effective emergency and necessary medical care"). Recognizing that 

county jails are obliged to do no more than to meet constitutional 

standards for the health, safety and welfare of inmates, the 

Legislature has directed that persons presenting a "likelihood of 

serious harm" (like the patient in Petersen) be detained, evaluated 

and treated by qualified professionals in "designated evaluation and 

treatment facilities." RCW 71.05.150(2). Indeed, the Legislature 
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has prohibited the use of jails for this purpose: "No correctional 

institution or facility, or jail, shall be an evaluation and treatment 

facility" under RCW ch. 71.05. RCW 71.05.020(16).2 

In addition, the Legislature has granted immunity to any 

public official or entity "with regard to the decision of whether to 

admit, discharge, release, administer antipsychotic medications, or 

detain a person for evaluation and treatment'' under RCW ch. 71.05, 

"if performed in good faith and without gross negligence." RCW 

71.05.120(1). Lacking any evidence that Zamora met the strict 

standards for involuntary commitment, and in light of this statutory 

immunity, plaintiffs "did not argue to the trial court that Zamora 

could have or should be been detained beyond his release date of 

August 2, 2008, under [RCW ch. 71.05]." (Op. n.37) 

The absence of any statutory obligation to provide long term 

mental health treatment to· jail inmates should have ended the 

inquiry. As Zamora himself could have no statutory claim to mental 

health treatment in the Skagit County Jail to prevent the 

2 This Court and the federal district court have both required DSHS to 
provide mental health services to jail inmates in an appropriate medical 
setting precisely because jails are "inherently punitive institutions," ill 
suited for specialized mental health services. Trueblood v. Dep 't of Soc. & 
Health Servs., _ F. Supp. 3d _, 2015 WL 1526548, at *5 (W.D. Wash. 
2015); Det. of D. W. v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs., 181 Wn. 2d 201, 332 
P.3d 423 (2014). 
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commission of criminal acts following his release, "it logically 

follows that members of the public cannot claim a duty to them." 

See Melville, 115 Wn.2d at 39. The Court of Appeals failed to 

acknowledge Melville's holding the State had no duty to prevent an 

inmate from murdering his ex-wife and their daughter three 

months after his release from custody because no statute nor 

regulation required the Department to provide (nor the inmate to 

accept) mental health treatment. 115 Wn.2d at 39-41. 

The Court of Appeals instead extrapolated from the narrow 

common law duty to prevent harm to the inmate himself or to other 

inmates a much broader duty to protect the public from post

release crimes. This was error. The common law protects the 

health of the inmate and the safety of fellow inmates while in 

custody, not the public at large. See Gregoire v. City of Oak 

Harbor, 170 Wn.2d 628, 634, -,r 12, 244 P.3d 924 (2010); Estelle v. 

Gamble, 429 U.S. 97, 103, 97 S.Ct. 285,50 L.Ed.2d 251 (1976) ("An 

inmate must rely on prison authorities to treat his medical needs"). 

While the 8th Amendment requires states to provide inmates "the 

minimal civilized measure of life's necessities," Farmer v. Brennan, 

511 U.S. 825, 834, 114 S.Ct. 1970, 128 L.Ed.2d 811 (1994), inmates 

also have "a significant constitutionally protected liberty interest in 
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avoiding the unwanted administration of antipsychotic drugs," 

State v. Hernandez-Ramirez, 129 Wn. App. 504,510, ~ 12, 119 P.3d 

880 (2005), that is wholly inconsistent with the plaintiffs' theory of 

liability in this case. See Argument § B, infra. 

Unlike the duty to supervise a parolee, the County's duty is to 

provide medical care to an inmate not "because he is a criminal" 

requiring supervision, Sheikh, 156 Wn.2d at 451-52, ~ 17, but 

because the inmate cannot provide for his own basic human needs 

while in custody. Kusah v. McCorkle, 100 Wash. 318, 326, 170 P. 

1023 (1918) (recognizing sheriffs duty to protect another inmate 

from mentally ill inmate's assault because of a jailer's "sole power"

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