A. INTRODUCTION 

Isaac Zamora was twice incarcerated in the Skagit County Jail 

("Jail'') in 2008. Despite the sentencing court's judgment that his mental 

condition be evaluated and that he must comply with any treatment that 

was ordered, his lengthy history of mental health problems, and pleas from 

his mother and his own requests for mental health treatment, Skagit 

County ("County") failed to properly evaluate Zamora's mental health or 

provide him any mental health treatment during his incarceration. His 

mental health deteriorated under the County's supervision. 

As a direct result of Zamora's deteriorating mental condition 

during his incarceration without proper evaluation/treatment, Zamora 

became a violent risk to the community, a ticking time bomb. That time 

bomb went off. Isaac Zamora shot and killed 6 people and wounded 4 

others. 

The Court of Appeals correctly discerned that the County had a 

"take charge" duty as to Zamora and consequently owed a duty to the 

respondents, the estates of the people Zamora killed, and the individuals 

he wounded ("violence victims") in his spree of violence. 

B. ISSUES PRESENTED BY COUNTY PETITION 

A more appropriate formulation of the County's actual issues is as 

follows: 
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1. Was the Court of Appeals correct in determining that where 
a county incarcerates an inmate that its personnel know has a long history 
of serious mental health problems, and it has a duty to evaluate the inmate 
and treat his mental health condition, but it then denies that inmate 
necessary evaluation or treatment, does the county owe a duty of care to 
the inmate's victims when, upon his release, he engages in an act of 
untreated psychotic violence? 

2. Where a duty exists as described above, was the Court of 
Appeals correct in concluding that the trial court erred in deciding as a 
matter oflaw that a county's breach of its duty to the violence victims was 
not the proximate cause of the deaths and injuries by the mentally ill 
inmate it released without proper evaluation and treatment? 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

The Court of Appeals' recitation of the facts here is correct. Op. at 

Prior to his incarceration by Skagit County in its Jail on April 4, 

2008, Isaac Zamora had a long history of involvement with the criminal 

justice system and evidenced unambiguous signs of mental instability. 

Beginning in 1999, Zamora was arrested 21 times in Skagit County and 

incarcerated in its Jail 11 times. CP 2651-52, 2655. Zamora had mental 

health issues dating back at least to 2000. CP 2538. He was involuntarily 

treated for mental health issues in 2003 when he had hallucinations and 

1 Not smprisingly, the County generally ignores that recitation and offers its 
own sanitized version of the facts, despite the requirement that this Court must review the 
facts in a light most favorable to the violence victims as the non-moving parties on 
summary judgment. Beccera v. Expert Janitorial, UC, 181 Wn.2d 186, 194, 332 P.3d 
415 (2014). The violence victims will not repeat the facts set forth in the Court of 
Appeals opinion, but will reference a number of salient facts that bear further emphasis. 
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was prescribed Seroquel, an anti-psychotic medication often used to treat 

schizophrenia. CP 2538. 

Skagit County law enforcement officials knew Zamora. CP 2852-

53, 2859-60, 2865, 2917, 3105-29, 3160-62.2 He was known to have 

serious mental problems; Zamora's CAD file3 was tagged with a 220 alert 

code, meaning that Zamora was mentally unstable or "crazy." CP 2844, 

2864, 3105, 3202. Zamora's arrest history and alert code were readily 

available to all Skagit County sheriff deputies via the CAD system that 

could be accessed from the computers in the deputies' squad cars. CP 

2845. Skagit 911 and its dispatchers also knew that Zamora had mental 

problems. CP 3201.4 

Jail officials knew of Zamora's mental health issues. While 

incarcerated at the Jail, Zamora was housed inC-Pod, the section of the 

jail for inmates who were dangerous, assaultive, or had mental health 

2 Judicial officials in Skagit County knew of Zamora's mental health issues. On 
May 29, 2007, law enforcement officers filed a probable cause affidavit in Skagit County 
Superior Court regarding Zamora and a malicious mischief charge. CP 2639. Under the 
portion of the affidavit relating to the defendant's prior record, the affidavit listed: 
"Mental Health Issues." /d. The form asked, "Do you have any reason to believe 
Defendant has underlying mental health issues?" Id. The "Y cs" box is checked. ld. At 
the bottom, the form says: "The jail staff will deliver the original to the court at the time 
of the preliminary appearance and a copy will be placed in the inmate's file." I d. 

3 In order to keep track of deputies in the field, Skagit 911, the entity that 
coordinates the dispatch of all police, fire and emergency services in Skagit County, 
operated a computer-aided dispatch ("CAD") system. CP 3185. 

4 One dispatcher testified that "[t]here were calls about him. There was a call 
that day. His name screen was flagged as a mental, which is a 220." CP 3202. 
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problems. CP 2581, 2899. While incarcerated in the Jail, Zamora's 

aggressiveness, anger, volatility, and dangerousness were noted to, and 

acknowledged by, Jail staff. CP 2408,2410,2412,2414. 

Zamora was convicted of drug possession in May 2008 and 

sentenced to confinement at the Jail. CP 2420. After commencement of 

that incarceration, Denise Zamora, Isaac's mother, called the Jail on April 

7, 2008 requesting that her son see a mental health counselor because he 

was "aggressive [and] has anger problems." CP 3681. She and her 

husband feared Isaac. /d. Mrs. Zamora made at least five requests of 

County officials for mental health treatment for her son. CP 2591~93, 

2928,2930. 

Zamora himself requested mental health treatment at least three 

times. Responding to a request from Zamora himself, Stephanie Inslee, 

who contracted with the Jail to provide mental health services, saw 

Zamora and on April 11, 2008 and wrote: 

Persecutorial thoughts, easily moved into rageful thinking, 
pressured speech, feels victimized by just about everyone 
in his world. . . . Sounds like panic attack. He needs 
something! Recommend beginning Lamictal. He is 
paranoid about poison and not messing with his brain. Can 
a person in medical please meet with him if meds are 
approved and address his fears. 
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CP 3685. On April 14, 2008, without having seen Zamora, a physician 

approved the Lamictal prescription. !d. 5 

On April 25, 2008, Zamora again requested to be seen by a mental 

health professional. CP 3687. Another contractor, Cindy Maxwell, 

responded and reported that Zamora appeared "upset, easily angered [and 

had] rambling style speech." CP 3687. Maxwell apparently only asked 

Zamora if he would like a contact from mental health staff; she did not ask 

a psychologist or psychiatrist to assess Zamora. CP 2539. 

Subsequently, Zamora submitted yet another mental health request 

stating that he wanted to see a mental health worker because he "keep[s] 

seeing black dots and white flashes." CP 2958. He saw monsters and 

demons out the window of his room and believed his bed to be electrified. 

CP 2540. Again, he was neither evaluated nor treated. 

When Zamora pleaded guilty to drug possession, the judgment and 

sentence ordered Zamora to undergo a mental health evaluation and 

further ordered that he must comply with all treatment recommendations. 

CP 3693, 3694. Despite the court's directive, Zamora was never actually 

seen or evaluated by a physician, psychiatrist, or psychologist at the Jail. 

CP 2533, 2539. 

5 Lamictal is prescnbed for seizure disorders and is used as a mood stabilizer. 
It is not an anti-psychotic drug, but its prescription should have put jail personnel on 
notice that Zamora's use of it indicated he had mental health issues. CP 2539. 
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Contrary to the County's baseless claim in its petition at 3 that 

Zamora "completed his sentence without incident," while in the Jail, the 

staff there wrote Zamora up for a series of inappropriate behaviors. CP 

2462, 2464, 2467, 2469-71. Zamora was involved in an altercation with 

another inmate who told Jail staff "that man [Zamora] cut me in the 

infirmary." CP 2464. 

By a contractual arrangement between Skagit and Okanogan 

Counties, Zamora was transferred on May 29, 2008 to the Okanogan 

County Jail. CP 5678. Zamora received no treatment for his mental 

health condition at that facility either, CP 2539, and he was released on 

August 2, 2008. CP 2541. Zamora's psychiatric condition, untreated in 

either jail, became significantly worse. CP 2541. His hallucinations were 

more intense and his mood swings more violent. ld. He believed people 

around him were evil; he spoke of God and his obligation to carry out 

God's will. !d. 

Less than a month before the shootings and shortly after his 

release, on August 5, 2008, County deputies were dispatched to remove 

Zamora from his parents' property because of fears expressed by Denise 

Zamora arising from Isaac's aggressive and angry outbursts; she told 

deputies that Zamora was acting in an aggressive and angry fashion 
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toward family members. CP 2568. While at the Zamora residence, 

Zamora was arrested on an outstanding warrant. CP 2569. 

While waiting to be processed at the Jail, Zamora acted out, 

pounding the walls of the holding room. CP 2465.6 

After his release, on September 1, 2008, the day before his 

rampage, a Zamora neighbor, Theo Griffeth, called County authorities to 

report seeing Zamora walking up the road near his house in a very agitated 

manner. CP 2851,2852. When Griffeth got to his driveway, he saw that a 

sign had been ripped off the gate and became concerned because his wife 

had just arrived home. CP 2852.7 Griffeth sensed "something wrong with 

the kid," and he wanted protection. CP 2852.8 He asked that a deputy be 

dispatched to his home, hoping Zamora would be arrested and get "some 

help." CP 2853. Three officers were dispatched to the Griffeth residence 

in response to Griffeth's call. CP 2854. When deputies arrived at 

Griffeth's house, Griffeth told deputies to be careful, "[t]his kid is ... he's 

over the edge." CP 2853. 

6 The County ignores this violent event in its petition. 

7 The County provides no details of this violent event in its petition. Pet. at 4. 

8 Griffeth described his observations of Zamora over the preceding months: "I 
think that there's something going on up there that ain't quite right . . . "); CP 2851. 
"[T]here was something just wrong. There was something that wasn't connecting and it 
was an aura of-- there was violence." CP 2853. 
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That same day, Zamora was seen by a psychologist in the parking 

lot of the Alger Bar & Grill at his father's insistence so that he could 

qualify for DSHS assistance. CP 2541. When Silverio Arenas, Ph.D. met 

Zamora -- even with Zamora being extremely uncooperative -- he was able 

to correctly diagnose Zamora as having a "psychotic disorder with 

paranoid tendencies." Id.; CP 2404.9 

The next day, September 2, 2008, Skagit 911 received yet another 

call from Denise Zamora. CP 2231, 2257. She told the dispatcher that 

"He's just ... he's not getting it, he's totally ... he's talking to himself, he's 

seeing things, he's like totally out of it. And he scared Mrs. Griffith [sic] 

just to pieces the other day ... " CP 2285. The dispatcher coded the call as 

a "Mental Problem Call" and routed it to a Skagit 911 dispatcher. CP 

2146, 2181, 2295. Skagit 911 dispatched deputies to the scene. CP 2257, 

2295. 

At a neighbor's residence, a deputy engaged in a gun battle with 

Isaac Zamora in which 33 shots were exchanged, and that deputy and a 

civilian were killed. CP 2634-38. Thereafter, Isaac Zamora went on a 

spree of violence, shooting victims, cutting people with a saw, stabbing 

9 This diagnosis was entirely consistent with that of Dr. Hegyvary, who testified 
that Zamora's actions on September 2 were the product of a "severe, untreated and long
standing mental disease, specifically schizophrenia, paranoid type with associated 
hallucinations and delusions." CP 2542. 
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others, and even ramming his victims with a car. Six died and four others 

were wounded. CP 2360. Zamora was finally subdued and arrested that 

afternoon. 

On summary judgment, 10 Dr. Csaba Hegyvary testified that he was 

"of the strong opinion" had the Jail staff properly evaluated and treated 

Zamora, he would not have undertaken his September 2, 2008 rampage 

because he would not have been in a psychotic state that day. CP 2537-

38.11 

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED12 

10 The County's petition ignores the fact that the violence victims also presented 
evidence from James Esten, an expert with nearly 40 years of experience in corrections, 
that the Jail had "clear notice" that Zamora needed mental health evaluation and 
treatment, CP 2532, and that both Counties breached their duty to provide proper mental 
health evaluation or treatment to Zamora. Id. Esten testified that the County failed to 
meet reasonably prudent correctional policies, procedures, and practices for an inmate 
like Zamora. /d. In Skagit County's case, this was ''the result of mismanagement and 
lack of qualification from the top down." CP 2535. The County was ''reckless" and 
breached standard correctional practice in delaying or denying mental health services to a 
patient like Zamora. CP 2534. 

11 Dr. Hegyvary noted that Jail personnel had adequate information indicating 
that Zamora needed a proper psychiatric evaluation: "In light of the available 
information, I fmd it truly appalling that a mental health evaluation was not undertaken 
prior to Zamora's release from jail in early August 2008." CP 2543. "Clinical interviews 
conducted after the shootings confmn that Zamora was, in fact, experiencing severe 
psychotic hallucinations and delusions during his time at both the Skagit County and 
Okanogan County Jails. For example, at Skagit County he saw monsters and demons out 
the window of his room and felt his bed was electrified." CP 2540. Dr. Hegyvary 
testified that a proper evaluation would have revealed Zamora's psychosis. CP 2543. 

12 If and only if the Court were to grant review in this case, the violence victims 
reserve the right to conditionally raise the issue of the County's duty under § 302B of the 
Restatement (Second) of Torts. RAP 13.7(b). The Court of Appeals concluded that the 
County did not owe the violence victims a duty under § 302B, op. at 19-23, but the 
violence victims believe the Court of Appeals was wrong where the County's two mental 
health counselors, but no physicians, saw Zamora and failed to provide him a proper 
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(1) The County Owed a Duty of Care to Zamora's Violence 
Victims Because They Took Charge of Isaac Zamora When 
They Had Him in Incarceration 

The principal focus of the County's petition is that the Court of 

Appeals improperly treated the duty issue here. Pet. at 7-17. In making 

this argument for review, the County neglects to address this Court's 

controlling "take charge" liability cases. This Court has found that a duty 

exists, however, in a series of cases beginning with Petersen v. State, 100 

Wn.2d 421, 671 P.2d 230 (1983) and culminating in .Joyce v. State, Dep't 

of Corrections, 155 Wn.2d 306, 119 P.3d 825 (2005), 13 where the 

defendant "takes charge" of the perpetrator of the crime. Review is not 

merited. RAP 13.4(b). 

First, the County only begrudgingly acknowledges that it has a 

duty to properly evaluate and treat mental health problems of jail inmates 

like Zamora. Pet. at 15-16. That duty is well-established in Washington 

evaluation or treatment, thereby increasing Zamora's risk of banning others. The Court 
of Appeals' decision on § 302B duty conflicts with its own decision in Parrilla v. King 
County, 138 Wn. App. 427, 157 P.3d 879 (2007), and this Court's decision in Washburn 
v. City of Federal Way, 178 Wn.2d 732,310 P.3d 1275 (2013). 

13 See, e.g., Petersen, 100 Wn.2d at 428 (state psychiatrist and patient released 
from Western State Hospital); Taggart v. State, 118 Wn.2d 195, 217-19, 822 P.2d 243 
(1992) (state patrol officers and offender on parole); Hertog ex rei. S.A.H. v. City of 
Seattle, 138 Wn.2d 265, 979 P.2d 400 (1999) (municipal probation counselors and county 
pre-trial release counselors and released accused); Joyce, supra (state community 
corrections officers and released offender); Estate of Jones v. State, 107 Wn.2d 510, 15 
P .3d 180 (2000) (group care facility on contract with State and juvenile offender). 
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law. Shea v. City of Spokane, 17 Wn. App. 236, 562 P.2d 264 (1997), 

aff'd, 90 Wn.2d 43, 578 P .2d 42 (1978); Gregoire v. City of Oak Harbor, 

170 Wn.2d 628, 635, 244 P.3d 924 (2010). See also, Husah v. McCorkle, 

100 Wash. 318, 325, 170 Pac. 1023 (1918).14 By statute, local 

governments like the County must meet federal and state standards for 

inmate health, safety, and welfare. Gregoire, 170 Wn.2d at 636; RCW 

70.48.071. Mental health standards are certainly part of that obligation, 

particularly where the deprivation of a prisoner's right to mental health 

services can constitute cruel and unusual punishment under the Eighth 

Amendment. Brown v. Plata,_ U.S. __J 131 S. Ct. 1910, 1928, 179

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